FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/1/2024 9:30 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Case #: 1032196

NO. 854496

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALEKSEY ZORCHENKO AND NINA ZORCHENKO,

Appellants,

v.

CITY OF FEDERAL WAY, a municipal corporation, DERRICK BOWERS, individually, DANICA BOWERS, individually, and SHIPT, INC., an Alabama company,

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lincoln C. Beauregard WSBA No. 32878 Connelly Law Offices, PLLC 2301 North 30th Street Tacoma, WA 98403 (253) 593-5100 Attorneys for Appellants

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioners are Aleksey and Nina Zorchenko. In the underlying proceedings, the Zorchenkos were the plaintiffs and sued the City of Federal Way premised allegations of negligence that occurred after they summoned an officer to the scene of an accident. Mr. Zorchenko was seriously injured, including the loss of a leg, as a result.

II. DECISION

The decision at issue for review was published by Division I of the Court of Appeals as *Zorchenko v. City of Federal Way*, -- P.3D --, WL 2889963 (June 10, 2024).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals error when affirming the trial court ruling that the Zorchenkos were not owed a common law duty care?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The accident at issue occurred on August 2, 2020.¹ Aleksey and Nina Zorchenko were riding in their vehicle together when it was rear ended by Danica Ostrom.² Nina Zorchenko called 9-1-1 to obtain assistance from law enforcement clearing the scene.³ Ms. Zorchenko provided details about the accident including that the roadway was partially being blocked:

12:21:26	CREATE	V01344/CR11	Location: MILITARY RD S/S 288TH ST, FED Type: ACCBLK Name: NINA Group: W1 RD/MapBox: WP0065 TypeDesc: Acc Blocking LocDesc: <28800/ 2500> LocCross: LocAddInfo: alias MRS/S 288TH ST Priority: 3 Class: F:1T Agency: WP Map: LocType: H
12:22:59	ENTRY	V01344/CR11	Comment: **ON MRS IFO SAFEWAY** 2 MVANO INJSPARTIALLY BLOCKING
12:22:59	ALI	V01344/CR11	E911Phne: 253/677-3022 E911Pilot: 206/511-1591 E911Add: 4218 S 288TH PL, XX E911Subs: VERIZON WIRELESS E911Srce: WPH2 AliLong: -122.300845 AliLatitude: 47.340618 Uncertainty: 28
12:22:59	ALIGEO	V01344/CR11	GeoLong: -122.300845 GeoLat: 47.340618 ClosestAdd: 29119 MILITARY RD S AddDesc: 17 ft W ClosestInt: MILITARY RD S / UNNAMED InterDesc: 331 ft N Area1: WP0065 Area2: WF1812
12:22:59	VEH	V01344/CR11	V#: 1 VehCol: BLK Make: MAZD Model: 3 Misc: OTHER INVLD
12:22:59	VEH	V01344/CR11	V#: 2 VehCol: WHI Make: ACUR Model: MDX

In the interim, the parties moved their vehicles to the side of the roadway. Federal Way Officer Giger responded to the

¹ CP 176-7

 $^{^{2}}$ Id.

 $^{^3}$ Id.

scene.⁴ According to expert testimony from a former law enforcement officer, Officer Giger should have (1) warned the drivers involved in the accident to wait in their vehicles, and (2) positioned her vehicle to prevent the subsequent accident that was caused by Derrick Bowers.⁵ If warned, Aleksey Zorchenko would have remained (safely) within his vehicle.⁶

Procedurally, the defendant, Federal Way, moved for summary judgment arguing that (despite being summoned via 9-1-1) no duty was owed to the plaintiffs.⁷ The trial court originally held that existing Supreme Court precedent *did* give rise to a duty, and denied, in part, the defendant's motion.⁸ The trial court expressly found (at one point) that the plaintiffs legal argument as to the controlling legal premise was correct:

```
24 THE COURT: All right. Well, the Norg
25 ruling by the Supreme Court -- Washington Supreme Court
```

⁴ *Id*.

⁵ CP 143-73

⁶ CP 174-5

CP 5-22

⁸ CP 247-9

is controlling, and it's a very recent decision. And that decision makes clear that once the City, in this instance, established a direct and particular -- particularized relationship with the plaintiffs in this case, that the City had a duty of reasonable care. The boundaries of that duty are prescribed by -- as cited to in the Norg ruling, cases like Mancini versus City of Tacoma and the Rob opinion, which discussed the distinction between misfeasance and nonfeasance.

Later, on reconsideration, the trial court seemed to flip its position and held that there was no duty owed to the plaintiffs and dismissed the case. ¹⁰ The Court of Appeals affirmed.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

In Norg v. City of Seattle, 200 Wash. 2d 749, 522 P.3d 580 (2023), this Court held that first responders that are summoned to the scene of an incident/accident are owed a

⁹ CP 51-2

¹⁰ CP 278

common law duty of care to the individuals that called for 9-1-1 assistance:

The Norgs have established that the City owed them an individualized, actionable duty of reasonable care when it undertook to respond to their 911 call. The Norgs' negligence claim is based solely on the City's alleged breach of this common law duty. Therefore, although we express no opinion as to whether the Norgs will be ultimately be able to prevail on their claim, we hold that the public duty doctrine does not apply. We affirm the Court of Appeals and remand to the trial court for further proceedings.

Id. at 765. Justice Yu explained (for the majority) that once the duty is triggered by the 9-1-1 call, any form of negligence, including an omission (effectively nonfeasance) is actionable: "... the Norgs claim that the City answered their 911 call and undertook to render emergency assistance, but that the City acted negligently in doing so by going to the wrong address." Id. at 764-5. Failing to act in this context is actionable because a duty attached in the form of a special relationship stemming from the 9-1-1 call. Id. Moreover, this Court has held that once a law

enforcement officer undertakes action under a given circumstance, a duty of care is owed to the individuals involved. Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma, 193 Wash. 2d 537, 442 P.3d 608 (2019).

The lower courts in this case essentially eviscerated this Court's precedent in *Norg* and *Beltran-Serrano* by distinguishing those cases primarily upon the facts and focusing upon the degree of injury as focal in determining if a duty was owed thereby justifying review under RAP 13.4(b) subparts (1), (3), and (4). Specifically in *Zorchenko*, Division 1 ruminated upon the characteristics of the 9-1-1 call as determinative:

But the court did not hold, or imply, that the City owed a common law duty of care to the Norgs, as individuals, simply because Delaura dialed 911. Instead, the City owed a duty to the Norgs because it undertook to provide emergency medical assistance to them following an extensive (in that context) interaction with Delaura, and because emergency medical services are not a unique and exclusive governmental function.

In contrast to the circumstances in Norg, the City did not undertake to provide "emergency assistance" to the Zorchenkos. See Norg, 200 Wash.2d at 764, 522 P.3d 580. There is nothing in the record to indicate a prolonged or in-depth interaction with the 911 dispatcher. The Zorchenkos did not contact the police for the purpose of seeking medical aid, or for any other reason related to their safety. Instead, Nina called law enforcement because the parties involved in the collision were "unclear of the legal obligations associated with leaving the scene of the accident" and sought assistance with "obtaining a police report." Nina reported no injuries and the record reflects that she interacted with the 911 dispatcher for approximately two minutes. There is nothing to suggest that the dispatcher made any assurances to Nina about prioritizing or expediting the response to her request for assistance.

Zorchenko, supra. The holding of Norg was clear – individuals that summoned 9-1-1 assistance (such as the Zorchenkos) are owed a duty of reasonable care. *Id.* Left uncorrected, Division I's published decision in Zorchenko provides that in every future case involving a 9-1-1 call, the lower courts must engage in an extensive debate about the degree of the importance of the "emergency call" to include the length that the parties remain on

the phone with the dispatcher. *Id*. The law should be clear, decisive, and offer clear lines as to when a duty is owed. The Zorchenko precedent now obscures those legal obligations and will provide for arbitrary application of "the law."

In another recent Supreme Court case, the distinction raised as between the liability of public versus private entities was rejected:

First, it ignores the legislature's directive to submit the State to tort liability as if it were a private entity. For tort liability to attach, the State does not necessarily have to be doing private something that a party Rather, RCW 4.92.090 recognizes that "the official conduct giving rise to liability must be tortious, and it must be analogous, in some degree at least, to the chargeable misconduct and of liability private person corporation." Evangelical, 67 Wash.2d at 253, 407 P.2d 440. Contrary to the State's interpretation, the focus of the waiver statute is on the presence of *tortious* conduct, rather than comparable private conduct. *Id.* at 252-53, 407 P.2d 440 (noting state "is rendered liable for damages only when such damages arise out of 'tortious conduct to the same extent as if it were a private person or corporation' "(quoting RCW)

4.92.090)). The State cannot shield itself from liability by simply asserting that its role in the foster care system has no direct counterpart in the private sector. Under our waiver statute, there is no "private analog" requirement.

Second. comparable there are private relationships that give rise to a duty in tort. For example, private persons entrust the care of children in their custody to schools, camps, and day care centers on a daily basis. These entities in turn delegate responsibilities to teachers, counselors, and caregivers. DSHS is not performing a uniquely governmental function by delegating the care of a child in its custody to foster parents. We reject its attempt to use the shield of sovereign immunity to avoid defending against negligence claims for failing to protect foster children.

H.B.H. v. State, 192 Wn.2d 154, 180, 429. P.3d 154 (2018). This reasoning is equally applicable here. *Id.* In Norg, the responding officer owed a duty to the injured parties at the scene of an accident. Norg, 200 Wash. 2d at 758. "If the duty that the government allegedly breached was owed to the public at large, then the public duty doctrine applies; if the duty was owed to an individual, then the public duty doctrine does not apply." *Id.*

Under *Norg*, in this case, the responding officer owed a duty to the Zorchenkos.

VI. CONCLUSION

The lower courts distinguished this claim premised upon the notion that the 9-1-1 at issue was not emergent enough and based upon how long Ms. Zorchenko remained on the phone with the dispatcher. These are wholly arbitrary distinctions as between the cases. By calling 9-1-1 for assistance at the scene of the accident, the Zorchenkos were carved out as particularized members of the community to which, in accord with *Norg*, a duty should have been owed. The Zorchenkos considered the positioning of the vehicles as potentially hazardous and sought the assistance navigating an unexpected situation that warranted calling 9-1-1 for help. Without correction and/or clarification, the lower courts will be left debating when or if a duty is owed based upon the characterization of the 9-1-1 including the length of time that the involved individuals remain on the telephone. At present, if Ms. Zorchenko had used more emergent sounding language with the dispatcher apparently she might have been owed a duty. Instead, in conflict with the existing precedent authored by this Court, the Zorchenkos were denied their day in court premised largely upon the length of a phone call. This Court should accept review to clarify the scope of the duty owed.

This brief contains 2113 words.