FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/30/2024 1:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1032196

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## ALEKSEY ZORCHENKO AND NINA ZORCHENKO,

Petitioners,

V.

CITY OF FEDERAL WAY, a municipal corporation, DERRICK BOWERS, individually, DANICA BOWERS, individually, and SHIPT, INC., an Alabama company,

Respondents.

## RESPONDENT CITY OF FEDERAL WAY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael E. Tardif,
WSBA No. 5833
Chia-Yu Chiang,
WSBA No. 50676
SIMMONS SWEENEY
FREIMUND SMITH
WSI
TARDIF, PLLC
711 Capitol Way S, Suite 602
Olympia, Washington 98501
Jason
WSI
WSI
Chia-Yu Chiang,
WSI
Nicho
SIMMONS SWEENEY
FREIMUND SMITH
TARDIF, PLLC

#### I. INTRODUCTION

An unlicensed and partially blind driver crossed the fog line, hit a police car, and then struck and injured Aleksey Zorchenko while he stood beyond the road's shoulder. The Zorchenkos¹ alleged that the City of Federal Way breached a duty to prevent such third-party harm after Aleksey's wife, Nina Zorchenko, called police to the scene of a non-injury accident. But Nina did not request, nor did the City undertake to provide, emergency assistance. And the Zorchenkos alleged only nonfeasance—the City undisputedly did nothing to cause or increase the risk of harm. So, absent a special relationship, the City had no duty to protect. *See Robb v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 439, 295 P.3d 212 (2013).

The Zorchenkos argued that this Court in *Norg v. City of Seattle*, 200 Wn.2d 749, 522 P.3d 580 (2023), held that a special

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The City follows Division One's example in referring to Aleksey and Nina Zorchenko by their first names and will collectively refer to them as "the Zorchenkos."

That is wrong. Although the petition broadly frames the issue presented, it really presents only this narrow question: Did *Norg* impose a new common-law duty to protect every 911 caller from third-party harm, no matter the circumstances? Division One correctly answered "no." *See Zorchenko v. City of Fed. Way*, \_ Wn. App. 2d \_, 549 P.3d 743, 747–48 (2024).

Norg applied existing common law. After receiving a 911 call for emergency-medical aid, the city undertook to provide it. Norg, 200 Wn.2d at 764–65. This Court held that the city had a duty to exercise reasonable care in providing aid—a duty the city allegedly breached when its responders initially went to the wrong address. *Id.* at 752, 765–66.

No such breach of duty is alleged here. Instead, the Zorchenkos alleged breach of a duty to protect Aleksey from third-party harm. But *Norg* had nothing to do with third-party harm. It thus does not apply. *See Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 747–

48 (explaining the many ways that *Norg* differs from this case).

And the Zorchenkos' misreading of *Norg* does not merit review.

But if this Court grants the Zorchenkos' petition, it should also consider an alternative ground to affirm not reached by Division One—the Zorchenkos' failure to present sufficient evidence supporting causation. Because their expert only speculated that Aleksey would have been unharmed, summary judgment was appropriate on that ground, as well.

#### II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

#### A. The Zorchenkos' Petition

- 1. No conflict with Norg. Norg neither involved third-party harm nor any alleged duty to protect 911 callers from such harm. Did Division One correctly conclude that Norg does not control?
- 2. No issue of substantial public interest. Without their reading of Norg, the Zorchenkos fear that courts must consider the facts of each case in determining whether a duty was owed. But that is the court's role. Do the Zorchenkos fail to raise an issue of substantial public interest?

### B. The City's Conditional Cross-Petition

**No causation.** Alternatively, the Zorchenkos cannot establish causation. No admissible evidence supports avoidance of injury in their alternate scenario. If this Court grants the Zorchenkos' petition, should it also consider this alternative ground to affirm?

#### III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>2</sup>

A. The first accident: Defendant Ostrom rear-ended the Zorchenkos' SUV. Though nobody was injured, police were called to the scene.

Danica Ostrom rear-ended the Zorchenkos' SUV on a two-lane road. CP 124, 321. Nobody was injured. CP 176; *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 745.

The Zorchenkos and Ostrom positioned their vehicles safely on the roadway's shoulder. CP 31–32. Nina Zorchenko called 911 and reported the accident as a nonemergency. CP 177. She confirmed nobody was injured and asked for "assistance obtaining a police report" and permission to move the vehicles from the scene. *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 745; CP 177. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For additional factual background, see Division One's opinion. *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 745–46.

Zorchenkos lived nearby. CP 33. Their son arrived and drove Nina home. *Id*.

Aleksey and Ostrom waited on a grassy area beyond the shoulder, their vehicles shielding them from traffic. CP 34, 39–40, 54, 89; *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 745.

When Officer Giger arrived at the scene, she angle-parked her vehicle on the northbound shoulder, behind Ostrom's car. CP 98; *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 745. This was the standard position for parking behind a vehicle on the shoulder, turning the wheels to the left so that the vehicle's front end was near the road's edge striping, with the rear located further onto the shoulder. CP 98–99. She activated the vehicle's rear-flashing lights to alert traffic of her presence. CP 99.

B. The second accident: Defendant Bowers, an unlicensed and partially blind driver, crashed his van into Officer Giger's vehicle and then struck Aleksey.

Officer Giger met with Aleksey and Ostrom in the grassy area. CP 91, 100. After gathering information, she returned to her vehicle to generate an accident report. CP 100.

Seconds later, Derrick Bowers' van crashed into Officer Giger's vehicle. CP 100, 322. A following driver saw Officer Giger's vehicle and its flashing lights on the shoulder and slowed as he approached. CP 75–77. But Bowers' van never slowed. CP 76–77. The following driver estimated the van's speed at 40 miles per hour. CP 76–77.

Bowers has right-eye blindness that conceals objects in his right peripheral vision, so he could not see anything on the roadside, including the emergency flashers and the parked vehicles. *See* CP 64–65. Bowers' impaired vision has caused several accidents, including this one, and his driver's license has been suspended since the 1990s. CP 63–65.

Bowers does not remember his driving after hitting Officer Giger's vehicle. CP 71. Here's what happened: Bowers' airbag deployed on impact with Officer Giger's vehicle. CP 68–70. The van veered back into the roadway and then turned sharply right, striking the left rear side of the Zorchenkos' SUV. CP 101, 126–27, 131–35; *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 745. Then the van

struck Aleksey where he stood, drove over him, and trapped him underneath. CP 94, 101.

Officer Giger radioed for assistance and administered emergency aid to Aleksey. CP 101–02.

C. The Zorchenkos sued the City for allegedly breaching a duty to protect Aleksey from Bowers' reckless driving—and cited *Norg* as creating the duty.

The Zorchenkos sued Bowers, Ostrom, and the City. *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 745.<sup>3</sup> They sought liability against the City for not protecting Aleksey from third-party harm. *Id.* For breach, they alleged that Officer Giger should have (1) instructed Aleksey to remain his vehicle, and (2) positioned her vehicle to prevent or mitigate the accident.<sup>4</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>3</sup> Although not part of the record on review, a second-amended complaint, dated May 18, 2023, added Nina Zorchenko as a plaintiff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Officer Giger did, in fact, angle-park her vehicle, but the Zorchenkos' expert opined, without foundation, that a different vehicle position would have changed the collision with Aleksey in an unspecified way. CP 98–99, 110, 112; CP 148–49; *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 745.

For the City's purported duty to protect, they cited only Norg. Amended Opening Br. at 5–7; CP 138–39; see also Zorchenko, 549 P.3d at 747.

## IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Zorchenkos allege that the City committed nonfeasance, not misfeasance. At common law, one has no duty to protect another from third-party harm absent a special relationship.

When determining whether one has a duty to protect another from third-party harm, the common law distinguishes between misfeasance and mere nonfeasance. *Robb*, 176 Wn.2d at 435–37. Only if a special relationship existed will nonfeasance support liability for third-party harm. *Id.* at 439; *see also Barlow v. State*, 2 Wn.3d 583, 589–90, 540 P.3d 783 (2024); *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 196 Wn.2d 864, 885, 479 P.3d 656 (2021).

"Misfeasance" is conduct that creates a new risk of harm to the plaintiff. *Robb*, 176 Wn.2d at 437. Liability for misfeasance follows from the general principle that everyone—

including law enforcement—owes a duty of reasonable care to

refrain from causing harm to others. Mancini, 196 Wn.2d at 879,

885-86. In contrast, nonfeasance is passive inaction or the

failure to take steps to protect others from harm. Robb, 176

Wn.2d at 437. Nonfeasance generally does not result in liability.

See id.

For example, in *Robb*, police officers did not affirmatively

create a new risk when they failed to pick up nearby shotgun

shells after stopping a suspect. Id. at 437-38. The officers

provided neither the shells nor the shotgun that the suspect later

used to kill the plaintiff. Id. at 438. The suspect would have

presented the same degree of risk had the officers never stopped

him, and the peril remained unchanged by the officers' action.

Id. So, absent a special relationship—which did not exist—the

city had no duty to protect the plaintiff.

RESPONDENT CITY OF FEDERAL WAY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 9

CIT022-0001 7701853

On appeal, the Zorchenkos conceded that Officer Giger's alleged negligence was mere nonfeasance.<sup>5</sup> And rightly so. Officer Giger did not place Aleksey in peril. Before she arrived, Aleksey exited his vehicle and placed himself in the grassy area beyond the shoulder. Officer Giger's actions did not increase the risk to Aleksey. Had Officer Giger not arrived, the same peril would have existed. The same holds true for Bowers' reckless driving.

Thus, to impose liability for third-party harm—resulting from Bowers' driving—the Zorchenkos needed to identify a special relationship. *See Robb*, 176 Wn.2d at 439.

B. Division One's decision does not conflict with *Norg*: *Norg* did not create a new special relationship between law enforcement and 911 callers at nonemergency accident scenes.

The only "special relationship" the Zorchenkos identified comes from their misreading of *Norg*—ostensibly creating a protective relationship between law enforcement and every 911

RESPONDENT CITY OF FEDERAL WAY'S ANSWER TO

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Amended Opening Br. at 11.

caller. They present one issue for review: Did *Norg* impose a new common-law duty to protect every 911 caller from third-party harm, no matter the circumstances?<sup>6</sup> Their appeal hinged on the answer being "yes." But Division One correctly answered "no."

*Norg* does not establish the expansive duty that the Zorchenkos have sought to apply. Recognizing that duty would have made no sense under *Norg*'s facts. *Norg* did not involve third-party harm; it involved an allegedly negligent provision of emergency assistance. *See Norg*, 200 Wn.2d at 752, 765–66.

And *Norg* did not, in fact, recognize any new duty, let alone one protecting 911 callers from third-party harm. It applied existing common law. *See id.* at 763. After receiving a 911 call for emergency-medical aid, the city undertook to provide it. *Id.* at 764–65. This triggered the city's duty to

<sup>6</sup> The Zorchenkos steadfastly maintained a one-argument appeal: *Norg* created this duty, and the trial court erred by not recognizing it. They thus concede that if *Norg* did not create this duty, then the trial court correctly granted summary judgment.

exercise reasonable care in providing aid. *Id.* The city allegedly breached this duty when its responders went to the wrong address. *Id.* at 752, 765–66.

Norg is inapposite. See Zorchenko, 549 P.3d at 747–48 (explaining the many ways that Norg differs from this case). The Zorchenkos allege breach of a duty to prevent third-party harm—not breach of a duty to exercise reasonable care in providing emergency assistance. The Zorchenkos have thus failed to identify a conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

## C. The Zorchenkos identify no other special relationship.

Beyond *Norg*, the Zorchenkos identify no basis for finding a special relationship.

This Court has found special relationships in limited circumstances based on the nature of the relationship between the defendant and the victim. *See Kim v. Budget Rent A Car Sys.*, *Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 190, 196, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001) (providing examples, including innkeeper and guest, business and business invitee, and party entrusted with care of a dependent). These

special relationships result "in a heightened duty where a person is helpless, totally dependent, or under the complete control of someone else for decisions relating to their safety." *Turner v. Washington State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 198 Wn.2d 273,

286–87, 493 P.3d 117 (2021).

The Zorchenkos have not argued that such a protective special relationship existed.

In the law-enforcement context, as an exception to the public-duty doctrine, this Court has recognized that a special relationship may be created when three elements are established: (1) direct contact or privity between the public official and the plaintiff that sets the plaintiff apart from the general public; (2) an express assurance given by the public official; and (3) justifiable reliance on the assurance by the plaintiff. *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc'n Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 879, 288

This analysis is akin to the rescue doctrine. *See id.* at 894 (Chambers, J., concurring) ("Because the special relationships in

RESPONDENT CITY OF FEDERAL WAY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 13

P.3d 328 (2012).

these 911 cases are in the nature of rescue doctrine cases, assurances and reliance are appropriate measures of whether a duty arose."); *Norg*, 200 Wn.2d at 756–57 (citing Justice Chambers' *Munich* concurrence as precedential). The duty is circumscribed by what is promised. *See Cummins v. Lewis County*, 156 Wn.2d 844, 867–68, 133 P.3d 458 (2006) (Chambers, J., concurring).

The Zorchenkos do not argue that a special relationship formed from express assurances. Indeed, Division One noted that the Zorchenkos did not argue that a "special relationship" existed based on public-duty-doctrine decisions. *Zorchenko*, 549 P.3d at 749 n.8.

D. The petition involves no issue of substantial public interest. Division One simply—and correctly—rejected the Zorchenkos' misreading of *Norg*.

The Zorchenkos cite RAP 13.4(b)(4), implying that their petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. They never directly explain how. But they express concern about the absence of a categorical rule that triggers a duty every time

someone calls 911. *Petition* at 10–11. And they lament that courts must determine the existence of a duty based on the facts in each case. *See id*.

But such determinations are necessary and within the court's proper role. The existence of a duty is a question of law and depends on mixed considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent. Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp. of E. Washington, 145 Wn.2d 233, 243, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001). "In a negligence action, in determining whether a duty is owed to the plaintiff, a court must decide not only who owes the duty, but also to whom the duty is owed, and what is the nature of the duty owed." Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 243, 44 P.3d 845 (2002). Where a duty depends on a special relationship or an undertaking to provide emergency assistance, then the court must determine if the facts support the existence of a duty. See, e.g., Barlow, 2 Wn.3d at 589–92 (special relationship); Norg, 200 Wn.2d at 764–65 (emergency assistance).

The Zorchenkos' imagined categorical rule—which has

no basis in existing law—strips away these considerations. It

would require law enforcement to protect every 911 caller from

third-party harm, no matter the circumstances. Although that

rule would be easy to apply—the only point the Zorchenkos

make in the rule's favor—such a rule ignores all other

considerations, including the consequences.

For instance, Nina Zorchenko called 911 to "obtain a

police report and clear direction about when we could move the

vehicles and further leave the scene." CP 177. Aleksey then

placed himself in the alleged peril. He exited the vehicle to stand

in the grassy area. Under the Zorchenkos' bright-line rule, if

Bowers had hit Aleksey immediately after the 911 call, then the

City would face potential liability for failing to protect him—

even before Officer Giger arrived.

Even if the supposed duty did not trigger until Officer

Giger arrived, no basis exists to impose liability on the City when

Aleksey placed himself where he did, the Zorchenkos did not

RESPONDENT CITY OF FEDERAL WAY'S ANSWER TO

seek protection from the City for their physical safety, and the City did nothing to increase the risk.

But the Zorchenkos' petition does not ask this Court to create their imagined rule, let alone wrestle with the sweeping consequences for municipalities across Washington that would flow from it.<sup>7</sup> As explained, the Zorchenkos' appeal presented a one-issue challenge: the trial court failed to apply their reading of *Norg*. And Division One affirmed, answering simply—and correctly—that the Zorchenkos misread *Norg*. The petition thus raises no issue of substantial public interest.

# E. The Zorchenkos cite RAP 13.4(b)(3) but present no argument supporting this basis for review.

Although petition also cites RAP 13.4(b)(3), it omits argument explaining how it raises a "significant question" under either the federal or state constitution. Indeed, "constitution"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Had Division One adopted the Zorchenkos' reading of *Norg*, this case would certainly present an issue of substantial public interest. Cities across Washington would face potential liability for third-party harm to every 911 caller.

appears nowhere in the petition. Thus, this ground provides no basis for review.

## v. ARGUMENT FOR CONDITIONAL CROSS-REVIEW

This Court can affirm a summary judgment on any ground within the pleadings and supported by evidence in the record. *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200–01, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989).

Here, causation presents an additional ground to affirm.

The evidence on summary judgment and reconsideration was insufficient to support proximate cause—that Officer Giger's alleged breaches would have prevented Aleksey's injuries.

The Zorchenkos submitted two declarations from Casey Johnson, a former King County Sheriff's Office deputy. CP 143–50, 340–42. Johnson opined about causation had Officer Giger positioned her vehicle differently and instructed Aleksey to remain in his. CP 340–42.

Johnson's opinion has at least three flaws. First, Johnson purported to testify as an expert in accident reconstruction, but

he lacks any reconstruction experience or necessary qualifications. *See* ER 702; CP 275–77.

Second, Johnson's opinion lacks foundation. For example, he conducted no measurements or calculations. CP 275–77, 340–42. Without foundation, his testimony constitutes inadmissible speculation. *See Moore v. Hagge*, 158 Wn. App. 137, 155–56, 241 P.3d 787 (2010) (affirming exclusion of expert testimony lacking proper foundation, such as quantitative analysis, for opinion that accident would have been avoided had the city taken certain actions).

Finally, in deposition, Johnson testified only that the outcome *may* have been different in the alternative scenario. CP 277. Testimony that something may have prevented an injury is insufficient to create a question of fact on causation. *See Moore*, 158 Wn. App. at 151–52. On summary judgment, Johnson's certainty increased. He declared the alternative scenario would have prevented injuries with "absolute certainty." CP 340–42. But this contradiction cannot create an issue of fact. *See* 

Marshall v. AC & S Inc., 56 Wn. App. 181, 185, 782 P.2d 1107 (1989) (holding witness cannot create an issue of fact by contradicting clear deposition testimony with a declaration that does not explain the contradiction).

Because Division One held that a duty was not owed, it did not address causation. If this Court grants the Zorchenkos' petition, then it should also consider this alternative ground to affirm.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Review is unwarranted because Division One correctly concluded that *Norg* does not control. *Norg* did not create an expansive duty requiring law enforcement to protect all 911 callers from third-party harm. But if this Court grants the Zorchenkos' petition, then it should also consider the causation issue as an alternative ground to affirm.

This document contains 3,238 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.